I. INTRODUCTION 

In September 2007, WSDOT landlocked property owned by 

Williams Place, LLC by having the Paradise Creek bridge, which 

connected the existing access connection to SR 270 and the 

Williams Place property, destroyed. It was undisputed this resulted 

in William Place being unable to access its property. Yet, WSDOT 

refused to leave the Paradise Creek bridge intact or to pay just 

compensation for the taking of the access. In this action, WSDOT 

took the legally and factually unsupportable position that Williams 

Place was landlocked by the vacation of a public road in 1935. 

Since 1882, a bridge has existed at the SR 270 connection 

location, was part of the former Garrison Road route, and has been 

used to access the Williams Place property. Garrison Road was a 

public road constructed in 1882 and included a bridge across 

Paradise Creek in the SR 270 connection location at issue (identified 

as MP 6.9). Garrison Road crossed the later established railroad 

easement. WSDOT did not present any evidence disputing the fact 

the Garrison Road route was used to access Williams Place from 

1882 - 2007 when WSDOT destroyed the Paradise Creek bridge. 



Despite the fact that this access existed for 125 years and it 

was WSDOT's action that ended t,he access across the bridge, the 

Trial Court was misled by WSDOT with regard to the law and 

ignored the facts presented. As a result, the Trial Court committed 

err by granting summary judgment dismissing Williams Place's 

inverse condemnation action and denying Williams Place's Motion 

for Partial Summary Judgment on liability. 

IT. ASSIGNMENTS OF E 

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF E 

1. The Trial Court erred by denying Williams Place's 
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. 

2. The Trial Court erred by denying Williams Place's 
Renewed Motion For Partial Summary Judgment. 

3. The Trial Court erred by granting WSDOT's Motion 
for Summary Judgment. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Did WSDOT's removal of the Paradise Creek bridge 
prevent access to the Williams Place property by 
effectively eliminating the SR 270 access point? 

2. Did WSDOT's removal of the Paradise Creek bridge 
constitute an unconstitutional taking and/or damaging 
of Williams Place private property interests? 

3. Is Williams Place entitled to just compensation for the 
taking andlor damaging of its property interests? 



4. Under Washington law, are property owners located 
adjacent to a vacated roadway entitled to retain the 
private right to use the former public access to their 
property? 

5. Is WSDOT estopped from claiming that a right of 
access to Williams Place property does not exist? 

6. Does WSDOT lack standing to raise claims of third- 
parties? 

111. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. 

The Jorstad Family has owned the property at issue1 since 

1954 when it was purchased by Sig Jorstad. CP 92-95. For estate 

planning purposes, the Jorstad Family formed and transferred title to 

Williams Place, LLC in 2005.~ CP 86-87. Sig Jorstad purchased the 

property from George and Ruby Williams in 1954 with the title 

transfer completed in 1961 .3 CP 104. The Williams Place property 

is located on a roadway that prior to being vacated was a public road 

known as Garrison Road. CP 87. 

The property is located south of SR 270 between Pullman, WA and Moscow, ID at 
approximately Milepost 6.9. 

2 Williams Place, LLC is owned by the members of the Jorstad family. 
3 The Jorstad Family refers to the property as the "Williams Place" because it was 

bought from the ""Williams". 



B. 

Garrison Road was constructed in 1882. From 1882 to 2007, 

the Williams Place property was accessed from Garrison Road. This 

was accomplished by crossing a bridge constructed on Garrison 

Road to cross Paradise Creek at the location near the SR 270 

connection at issue and what is now milepost 6.9 ("Paradise Creek 

bridge"). CP 87. 

In 1886, the original owner of the Williams Place property 

provided the Columbia and Palouse Railroad with a railroad 

easement. CP 297-299. The easement was for the purpose of 

building and maintaining a railroad. Notably, the Garrison Road 

access did not change and since 1886 the Garrison Road route has 

continued to cross over the railroad easement. 

In 1933, Whitman County began construction of a new road 

between Pullman and Moscow (Secondary Road No. 11). CP 116. 

At that time the Williams Place property was owned by Lewis 

Brosa. CP 104. The 1933 planning maps showed the Garrison Road 

route connecting Williams Place via the Paradise Creek bridge. See 

CP 111. 



In 193 5, after construction of SR No. 11, Whitman County 

vacated Garrison Road. CP 102-103. When this occurred, the 

Brosas continued to use the vacated Garrison Road, the Garrison 

Road route across the railway easement, and the Paradise Creek 

bridge to access the Williams Place property. CP 87; see also CP 

326-327. In 1942, Brosa sold the property to the Williams. CP 104. 

After the sale, Williams continued to access the property by using 

the Paradise Creek bridge, the Garrison Road route across the 

railroad easement, and the former Garrison Road to access the 

Williams Place property. CP 87; see also CP 326-328. 

In approximately 1950, the State of Washington began a 

construction project to improve the highway between Pullman and 

Moscow (Primary State Highway No. 3) and acquired property to 

widen the road and right-of-way. At this time, the State acquired 

property from Emerson, Williams (the predecessor to Sig Jorstad), 

and Farrand located between the highway and the railroad easement. 

Included in this property was the land on which the Paradise Creek 

bridge was located. The Deeds for this property were recorded in 

January 195 1. CP 105-1 10; CP 161. After WSDOT9s acquisition, 



the access connection was left open and the Williams Place property 

continued to be accessed the same as it had since 1882, by using the 

Ganison Road route including the Paradise Creek bridge, the 

railroad crossing, and the former Garrison Road. See CP 87; 

also CP 326-328. 

From 1954 until 2007, Sig Jorstad and his family continued to 

access the property south of SR 3 (now known as SR 270) by using 

the Garrison Road route, including the Paradise Creek bridge. CP 

8 8. Throughout this time, the Jorstads repaired, maintained, and 

used the Paradise Creek bridge to access their property. CP 87. The 

undisputed evidence in the record confirmed that the Garrison Road 

route continued to be used to access the Williams Place property 

through the decades. This included using the Garrison Road route to 

cross the former railroad easement. Aerial photographs from 1968 

confirm this fact and clearly show the Garrison Road route and the 

Paradise Creek bridge. See below. 





CP 364.4 

Another aerial photograph shows that nearly 20 years later 

(1987) the Garrison Road route and the Paradise Creek bridge were 

still the access to the Williams Place property. 

This is a portion of CP 364 blown up and with "Williams Place" interlineated. 

8 





CP 365? 

In 2001, without providing any notice to Williams Place, 

WSDOT granted the Williams Place neighbor to the east, the 

Motleys, an access connection permit at milepost 6.9 to upgrade the 

existing connection to allow use for commercial purposes. CP 15 1- 

158; see also CP 87. The existing connection had existed since 

approximately 193 5. WSDOT allowed Motley, Inc. to improve the 

5 This is a portion of CP 365 blown up and with "Williams Place" interlineated. 

10 



Paradise Creek bridge by constructing a new commercial quality 

bridge on the Garrison Road route at the location William Place used 

to access it property. The Williams Place property continued to be 

accessed by the Garrison Road route and crossing via the new 

Paradise Creek bridge just as it had using the prior bridge. 

In 2001, WSDOT also had approved construction plans for 

SR 270 that acknowledged Williams Place's access rights by 

providing for a frontage road to maintain access to the Williams 

Place property. See CP 169-170; see also CP 4gS6 However, in 

2004, WSDOT changed its plans for State Route 270 and eliminated 

this proposed frontage road. CP 162. Without the frontage road, the 

new plan eliminated any access to the Williams Place property. The 

2004 plans would leave the Williams Place property landlocked. CP 

88. WSDOT ignored Williams Place when this was pointed out and 

refuse to change the project. 

In September 2007, again without notice to Williams Place, 

WSDOT landlocked the Williams Place property when it directed 

Motley to destroy the bridge located at milepost 6.900. WSDOT 

6 Indeed, historical maps and plans consistently show the bridge and the former Garrison 
Road route as connecting the Williams Place property to SR 270. 

11 



ordered this destruction without providing any provision for the 

restoration of the pre-existing Paradise Creek bridge access which 

was destroyed for the construction of Motley's new Paradise Creek 

bridge in anticipation of the original plan to create the frontage road. 

CP 15 1-158. WSDOT did not provide for any alternate access by 

way of a frontage road or an alternative to crossing Paradise Creek 

to access the Garrison Road route. As a result, WSDOT eliminated 

the reasonable, adequate and commercially practicable access to the 

Williams Place property via the Garrison Road route and the 

Paradise Creek bridge, which had been used from 1882 - 2007 to 

access the Williams Place property. CP 86-88; CP 326-328. 

WSDOT did not dispute that the Garrison Road route 

provided the access to the Williams Place property for 125 years. 

Indeed, prior to 2007, WSDOT also consistently recognized that the 

Paradise Creek bridge connection provided the legal access to the 

Williams Place property. In 1970, WSDO'T granted Northwest 

Paving, 1nc.iW.D. Poppie the right to increase the existing Paradise 

Creek bridge access from a farm access to a "business approach." 



WSDOT identified that the "abutters to the west9' [Williams Place] 

had an existing access and that Northwest Paving would have to 

share the access. See CP 122-137; see also CP 145. WSDOT's 

inclusion of a frontage road to provide access to William Place in the 

original plans for the SR 270 work further confirmed that WSDOT 

recognized that Williams Place had access rights across the Paradise 

Creek bridge railroad easement and could not be left land-locked. 

See CP 169- 170; see also CP 48.7 

Furthermore, when WSDOT appraised multiple properties 

owned by the Jorstad Family, including the Williams Place property, 

it admitted that the property at issue had an existing farm access. 

"The portion of the ownership on the riglzt, south of SR-270 also 

has farm access". CP 13 8- 140 (emphasis added). Finally, in a 2007 

draft letter, WSDOT admitted Williams Place had what it called 

"informal access". CP 146- 148. 

* On September 7, 2007, Plaintiff Williams Place commenced 
this action alleging an inverse condemnation had occurred. CP 
1-9. 

7 Notably, WSDOT's construction glans also confirm that a bridge existed at that 
location. CP 48. 



On February 22, 2008, Plaintiff Williams Place moved for 
partial summary judgment on its claims. CP 173-184. In 
response, WSDOT brought a cross motion for summary 
judgment. CP 197-210. 

On July 23, 2008, the Superior Court, County of 
granted a portion of Williams Place's Motion by ruling 
" WSDOT owned the property where the Paradise Creek and the 
adjoining connection to SR 270 was located, and that the 
bridge was removed in 2001 through state action by WSDOT." 
The Court denied summary judgment on all remaining issues 
and denied WSDOT's motion. CP 427-437.' 

Plaintiff renewed its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on 
October 26, 2012, and Defendant WSDOT again moved for 
Cross-Summary Judgment. CP 448-464; CP 468-480. 

Both motions were heard on December 6, 2012. This appeal 
arises out of the Superior Court's April 25, 2013 Memorandum 
Decision and May 13, 20 13 Order granting Defendant's Motion 
and denying Plaintiffs Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. 
CP 9 14-923. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard Of Review. 

A Trial Court's summary judgment decision is reviewed de 

novo. Huff v. Budbill, 14 1 Wn.2d 1, 7 (2000). Summary judgment 

should only be granted if there are no genuine issues of material fact, 

and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 

56(c); see also Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. V. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 

8 The portions of the Summary Judgment Motion that were granted in Williams Place's 
favor have not been appealed. 



394 (1992). "A materialfact is one upon which the outcome ofthe 

litigation depends, in whole or in part." 

Inc., 94 Wn.2d 640, 642 (1980). 

The moving party must prove by uncontroverted facts that 

there are no genuine issues of material fact. Jacobsen v. State, 89 

Wn.2d 104, 108 (1977). The facts submitted and all reasonable 

inferences from those facts are considered in the light most favorable 

to the non-moving party. See Sec. State Bank v. Burk, 100 Wash. 

App. 94, 97, 995 P.2d 1272, 1275 (2000). Here, the facts are 

construed in the light most favorable to Williams Place. Id.; see also 

Visser v. Craig, 139 Wn. App. 152, 165 (2007) (". . . as the trial 

court noted, there is no direct evidence that the parties expressly 

agreed to exclude an easement by necessi@. Thus, viewing the 

evidence in a light most favorable to Visser, the nonmoving party, 

the trial court properly denied the Craigs' cross-motion for summary 

judgment, leaving the issue for the fact-finder to resolve.") 

(emphasis added). 

The question of whether a non-abutting property owner's 

"reasonable means of access" is obstructed is a factual issue. See 



Union Elevator & Warehouse Co., Inc. v. State ex. rel, 95 Wn. App. 

288, 296 (1999). In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the 

Court's function is to determine whether a genuine issue of fact 

exists, not to resolve any factual issues on their merits. Balise v. 

Undemood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 199 (1963). The summary judgment 

procedure may not be used to try an issue of fact. Thoma v. C.J. 

Montaa & Sons, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 20, 26 (1959). The purpose of CR 

56 is not to cut litigants off from their right to a jury trial. Burback 

v. Bucher, 56 Wn.2d 875, 877 (1960). 

By denying Williams Place's Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment, the Trial Court ignored the one thing that resulted in 

Williams Place becoming unable to access its property - WSDOT's 

destruction of the Paradise Creek bridge eliminating the connection 

to SR 270. It was undisputed that the day before the bridge was 

removed the Williams Place property was accessed by using the SR 

270 connection and crossing the Paradise Creek bridge using the 

former Garrison Road route. Indeed, it was undisputed that the 



Williams Place property had been accessed by that same roadway 

since 1882. CP 87. It was only the action of WSDOT in 2007 that 

destroyed Williams Place's ability to use this historical access. 

. . . No private property shall be taken or damaged for 
public or private use without just compensation having 
been first made, or paid into court for the owner ... . 

Washington State Const., Art. I, 5 16 (emphasis added). An 

"inverse condemnation" occurs when the govemment takes or 

damages property without the formal exercise of the power of 

eminent domain. Dickgeiser v. State, 153 Wn.2d 530, 535-536, 105 

P.3d 26 (2005). 

The elements required to establish inverse 
condemnation are: ( I )  a taking or damaging (2) of 
private property (3)for public use (4) by a 
governmental entity that has not instituted formal 
proceedings. 

Id. at 536 citing Phillips v. King County, 136 Wn.2d 946, 957 - 

(1 99 8). "Any governmental activity that invades or interferes with 

the right to use and enjoy property is n taking." Showalter v. City 

of Cheney, 188 Wn. App. 543, 549 (2003)(emphasis added) citing 

Pruitt v. Douglas County, 116 Wn. App. 547, 559 (2003). Access is 

a recognized property right. 1151.01 and 151.02. 



In this case, WSDOT did not present any evidence disputing 

the fact that for the 125 years prior to the Paradise Creek bridge 

being removed, Williams Place had access to its property by means 

of the Garrison Road route and the Paradise Creek bridge via the SR 

270 connection. It also was undisputed that WSDOT ordered the 

Paradise Creek bridge to be destroyed as part of a public works 

project. Thus, the fact WSDOT's conduct was for a public use was 

never in dispute. CP 427-437. Finally, it was undisputed that 

WSDOT did not institute formal proceedings to take Williams 

Place's access and did not pay just compensation for this taking. 

Accordingly, the only element that WSDOT even attempted to argue 

was whether there was a taking or damaging of Williams Place 

private property rights. However, as a matter of law, since 1882 

Williams Place had a legal right of access. Infra. 

Access cannot be destroyed where it will result in the land- 

locking of property. See Keiffer v. King County, 89 Wn.2d 369,373 

(1977). The Trial Court erroneously ignored the relevant and 

undisputed facts demonstrating that it was WSDOT's actions that 

landlocked the Williams Place property. Instead, WSDOT 



incorrectly convinced the Trial Court to focus on whether the 

Williams Place property abutted the highway. However, regardless 

of whether Williams Place is considered abutting or non-abutting, it 

is entitled to reasonable, adequate and commercially practicable 

access. Union Elevator & Warehouse v. State, 96 Wn. App. 288, 

296 (1999). In Washington, non-abutting land-owners are entitled to 

reasonable access. Id. See also RCW 47.50.0 10(3)(b). 

Furthermore, Washington law prohibits government action from 

land-locking private property. 

It must show its right of access was either eliminated 
or substantially impaired. Kegffer v. King County, 89 
Wn.2d 369, 373, 74, 572 P.2d 408 (1977). In other 
words, its reasonable means of access must be 
obstructed. Capitol Hill Methodist Church v. City q f  
Seattle, 52 Wn.2d 359, 366, 324 P.2d 11 13 (1958). 

Id. The Trial Court committed err by determining that only abutting - 

landowners have a right to access. 

Not only is that conclusion legally incorrect, even if it were, 

Williams Place should also be considered an "abutting" landowner. 

When the Railroad ceased to use its easement for a railroad, not only 

would the historical right to cross remain but the legal effect was 

that the property reverted back to the Jorstad Family. Hanson v. 



County of Spokane, 114 Wn. App. 523, 535, 58 P.3d 910 

(2002)(Court held that "Right of Way" deeds create only a railroad 

easement that "automatically revert" back to the prior ownership 

when the property is no longer used as a railway). The fact is the 

evidence shows that since 1888 the Jorstad Family Property has been 

an abutting land entitled to access to SR 270 through the crossing 

that was created by Garrison Road. It is undisputed that after the 

destruction of the bridge, access no longer exists. 

Here, the undisputed evidence was that the day before 

WSDOT took action, Williams Place had access and the day after it 

did not. Therefore, the Trial Court erred as a matter of law by 

denying Williams Place's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on 

liability. 

Unable to dispute its own actions and the results from them, 

WSDOT convinced the Trial Court to ignore Washington law and 

the facts of this case by attempting to claim the 125 year access route 

did not really exist. WSDOT convinced the Trial Court to ignore the 

fact that Williams Place obtained an easement when Garrison Road 



was created in 1882. The only evidence in the record unequivocally 

established that since 1882 the Garrison Road route was the legal 

access to Williams Place. However, as a matter of law, the right to 

continue the use of the easement was not extinguished when 

Garrison road was vacated in 193 5. 

1. When Garrison Road Was Vacated, Williams Place 
Retained A Private Easement. 

The Trial Court ignored Washington law with regard to the 

effect of a road vacation. It is well established that when a road is 

vacated, only the public aspect of the easement is eliminated. See 

Howell v. King County, 134 P.2d 80 (1943). If the road is used to 

access property adjacent to it, the vacation does not eliminate the 

private easement necessary for the use and benefit of the adjacent 

property. Id. at 2. This is because the owner of property abutting a 

public thoroughfare has a right to free and convenient access. 

Walker v. State, 48 Wn.2d 587, 589-90 (1956). As a result, while 

the vacation of the roadway eliminates the public easement across 

the roadway, it does not eliminate the private easement necessary for 

access. See also, Curtis v. Zuck, 65 Wn. App. 377 (1992). 



In other words, if access exists based on a roadway, the 

vacation of that roadway does not eliminate the access to the 

adjacent properties and does not result in the property becoming 

land-locked because of a vacation. Indeed, this legal premise makes

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