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

upon prior use and is based on the parties' intent, which is shown by the 

facts and circumstances surrounding the conveyance.  Roberts v. Smith, 41 

Wn. App. 861, 864, 707 P.2d 143 (1985) (citing Evich v. Kovacevich, 33 

Wn.2d 151, 204 P.2d 839 (1949)).  Intent to create an easement may be 

                                                 
19 In 1950, the Williams Place property was owned by Williams (no relation to 

Williams Place other than honorific farm/property identification) who conveyed 
additional highway right-of-way to WSDOT’s predecessor in 1950 by deed.  CP 107-08.  
In 2005, Williams Place acquired title from its predecessor Jorstad, whose deed was 
recorded in 1961.  CP 104.   Williams Place believes that Jorstad purchased the property 
in 1954 or the mid 1950s from Williams.  CP 104, CP 86-87, Appellant Br. at 3.   
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implied from prior use where there is: “(1) a unity of title and subsequent 

termination of two parcels of property; (2) apparent and continuous use of 

a quasi easement for the benefit of one parcel to the detriment to the other 

during the unity of title; and (3) a reasonable degree of necessity for the 

existence of the easement after severance.  Unity of title and subsequent 

separation is an absolute requirement.”  Landberg v. Carlson, 108 Wn. 

App. 749, 757, 33 P.3d 406 (2001) (citing  Hellberg v. Coffin Sheep Co., 

66 Wn.2d 664, 668, 404 P.2d 770 (1965) (internal quotations omitted)). 

Williams Place cannot satisfy the first element requiring unity of 

title through a common parcel.  Williams Place’s implied easement theory 

relies on Roe v. Walsh, 76 Wash. 148, 135 P. 1031 (1913), which is 

factually dissimilar to the present case.  In Roe v. Walsh, the parcels in 

question were originally owned by a common grantor.  But in this case, it 

is undisputed that Williams Place’s predecessors did not share unity of 

title or a common grantor with the Motley property.  From 1935, when the 

County vacated Garrison Road, until 1950, the bridge was located on the 

Motley property.  Both Williams Place’s and Motley’s 1880s predecessors 

in interest received their property from the United States in 1881 and 

1882, respectively.  CP 689, 692-94.  The “common original ownership by 

the USA should not be considered unity of title when analyzing whether 

an implied easement exists.”  Granite Beach Holdings, LLC v. Dep’t. Nat. 
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Res., 103 Wn. App. 186, 196, 11 P.3d 847 (2000).  Doing so “would make 

the mandatory element that a party establish common ownership at the 

date of severance meaningless - because all ownership of land in the 

western states can be so traced.”  Id. 

Williams Place also argues that the fee interest in the vacated 

Garrison Road is itself somehow the common parcel that was divided.  

According to this argument, Garrison Road was formerly owned by the 

county, which Williams Place considers to be the grantor, and, when the 

county vacated the road, the entire length of the road reverted to the 

owners.  There is no authority for this novel argument.  Under this 

argument, the effect of the county vacating the road was to maintain the 

road as a means of access to the Williams Place property as well as a 

semi-private highway for all those owners abutting the former Garrison 

Road.   

This theory is contrary to law because the fee interests in a former 

county road revert to the abutting property owners upon vacation of a 

county road.  See Leonard, 116 Wn. App. at 64 (“On vacation of a road, 

title reverts to the abutting property owners.”).  Thus, Williams Place now 

owns the portion of Garrison Road abutting the Williams Place property, 

and Motley owns the portion of Garrison Road abutting the Motley 

property. 
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The Williams Place parcel and Motley parcel were never owned by 

a common grantor.  It is, therefore, not possible for Williams Place to have 

an implied easement to access the former Garrison Road Bridge site. 

Without that easement, Williams Place is not an abutter and cannot present 

evidence that it owned the access right it now claims WSDOT condemned. 

b. Williams Place Cannot Establish an Easement 
by Necessity.    

Contrary to its assertion otherwise, Williams Place cannot have an 

easement by necessity.  Williams Place cites to Dawson v. Greenfield, 118 

Wash. 454, 203 P. 948 (1922), which holds that an implied easement by 

necessity can be found where a common property owner sells a portion of 

the property that, without an easement, would be landlocked.  See also 

Hellberg v. Coffin Sheep Co., 66 Wn.2d 664, 667, 404 P.2d 770 (1965).  

Intent to create an easement is implied from necessity where (1) a grantor 

conveys part of a common parcel, (2) retains part of the parcel, and (3) 

after severance, it is necessary to pass over the grantor's land to reach a 

public street or road.  Visser v. Craig, 139 Wn. App. 152, 158–59, 159 

P.3d 453 (2007).  The facts here cannot support the elements necessary to 

establish an easement by necessity because there is no common grantor.  

Consequently, none of the three required elements of easement by 

necessity can be satisfied. 
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c. Williams Place Cannot Establish a Prescriptive 
Easement.  

Williams Place suggests that the facts support a prescriptive 

easement.  Appellant Br. at 24-27.   In order to perfect an easement by 

prescription, Williams Place would have to produce evidence 

demonstrating, among other things, that its use was adverse or hostile to 

the owner.  See Nw. Cities Gas Co. v. W. Fuel Co., 13 Wn.2d 75, 84, 123 

P.2d 771 (1942).  The burden of proving a prescriptive right rests upon the 

one who is to be benefited by the establishment of such right.  Id.  

Williams Place has presented no evidence that its use of the bridge or 

former Garrison Road route was adverse to Motley or Motley’s 

predecessors, the railroad, or the county.  Without production of such 

evidence, Williams Place fails to meet its burden and its use of the former 

Garrison Road route and bridge must be presumed to be nothing more than 

permissive.  Interestingly, Williams Place suggests that it may have 

perfected a prescriptive easement against the railroad. Appellant Br. at 24.  

But this argument is unsupportable because state and federal courts 

already ruled otherwise when they dismissed Williams Place’s 2009 quiet 

title actions against the railroad and county.  CP 617-19, 637.  
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d. Williams Place Receives No Right of Access 
under Union Elevator. 

Williams Place asserts that WSDOT has destroyed its reasonable, 

adequate, and commercially practicable access to SR 270.   Appellant Br. 

at 16-20.20  Williams Place cites to Union Elevator & Warehouse Co., Inc. 

v. Dept. of Transp., 96 Wn. App. 288, 296, 980 P.2d 779 (1999) to support 

this position.  Appellant Br. at 19.   

The Court should decline to follow Williams Place’s suggestion 

that Union Elevator would support a finding that Williams Place, as a non-

abutting landowner, had a state highway access right at milepost 6.9.  

Union Elevator is distinguishable for two reasons.  First, Union Elevator 

involved a limited access21 (four lane full access control) facility and this 

case involves only a managed access highway.22  The issues resolved by 

Union Elevator involved statutes unique to limited access facilities 

including RCW 47.52.041 and .080, which are not applicable in this case 

which involves a managed access facility.   

Thus, unlike the more limited options available to the Union 

Elevator plaintiff, Williams Place can apply for access at a location where 

                                                 
20 Within this section of its opening brief, Williams Place argues that WSDOT 

did not present evidence disputing that Williams Place had access to its property via the 
former temporary bridge site for 125 years.  Appellant Br. at 18.  This is not accurate.  
The record establishes that there were periods in which this former, temporary bridge site 
was not used by anyone.  CP 48-49, 224, 227, 229, 386.  And sometime prior to 2001, the 
“bridge” was not useable. CP 227 ¶4-5; CP 229.   

21 Limited access facilities are provided for in RCW 47.52. 
22 Managed access facilities are addressed in RCW 47.50.  
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Williams Place is an abutting owner.23 See RCW 47.50.010; WAC 468-

51-030.  Consequently, removal of the temporary bridge at milepost 6.9 

does not prevent reasonable access by Williams Place to its property.  

Second, Union Elevator involved the loss of access to a State highway 

from an existing public county road.  Union Elevator, 96 Wn. App. at 294.  

The Union Elevator plaintiff’s facility abutted the Lind-Kahlotus County 

Road, a public road which had been connected to the state highway prior 

to WSDOT’s highway construction project. Union Elevator, 96 Wn. App. 

at 292, 294.  But the portion of the Williams Place property at issue in this 

case (south of SR 270) does not abut a public road.  Garrison Road has not 

been a public road since its vacation in 1935 and, therefore, the Williams 

Place property owners have not used a public road to reach SR 270 since 

1935.  Unlike the Union Elevator plaintiff, Williams Place did not have 

access to a state highway via a public road at the time of the alleged 

taking.  Thus, there is no logical basis to apply the unique holding in 

Union Elevator to the dissimilar facts here. 

                                                 
23 WSDOT will consider an application from Williams Place for an access 

permit at a location where it abuts the highway.  CP 676.  For example, WSDOT Eastern 
Region Administrator informed Williams Place by letter that WSDOT was amenable to 
issuing an access connection permit from SR 270 to Williams Place’s property, provided 
that the connection met regulatory requirements.  CP 236-37.  This letter included an 
enclosed blank access connection permit form for use by Williams Place.  CP 237.   As of 
November, 2012, Williams Place had not applied for an access connection permit, even 
though the County gave Williams Place an easement to cross the county recreation trail at 
SR 270 milepost 6.7 in 2012.  CP 674-78, 800-05.   
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C. The Facts Do Not Establish Equitable Estoppel. 

 Williams Place’s conclusion that WSDOT is equitably estopped 

from asserting that Williams Place did not have a right of access at 

milepost 6.9 is based on an incorrect understanding of the facts and law. 

The doctrine of equitable estoppel against a government agency has been 

described by the Supreme Court as follows.  

The elements of equitable estoppel are: (1) a party’s 
admission, statement or act inconsistent with its later 
claim; (2) action by another party in reliance on the 
first party’s act, statement or admission; and (3) 
injury that would result to the relying party from 
allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate the 
prior act, statement or admission. Robinson v. Seattle, 
119 Wn.2d 34, 82, 830 P.2d 318, cert. denied, --- U.S. 
----, 113 S.Ct. 676, 121 L.Ed.2d 598 (1992).   
Equitable estoppel is based on the principle that: a 
party should be held to a representation made or 
position assumed where inequitable consequences 
would otherwise result to another party who has 
justifiably and in good faith relied thereon.  Wilson v. 
Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 85 Wn.2d 78, 81, 530 P.2d 
298 (1975). 

Equitable estoppel against the government is not 
favored. See Finch v. Matthews, 74 Wn.2d 161, 169, 
443 P.2d 833 (1968). Consequently, when a party 
asserts the doctrine against the government, two 
additional requirements must be met: equitable 
estoppel must be necessary to prevent a manifest 
injustice, and the exercise of governmental functions 
must not be impaired as a result of the estoppel.  
Shafer v. State, 83 Wn.2d 618, 622, 521 P.2d 736 
(1974); Finch, 74 Wn.2d at 175, 443 P.2d 833. Courts 
should be most reluctant to find the government 
equitably estopped when public revenues are 
involved. Harbor Air Serv., Inc. v. Board of Tax 
Appeals, 88 Wn.2d 359, 367, 560 P.2d 1145 (1977). 

A party asserting equitable estoppel against either the 
government or a private party must prove each 
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element of estoppel with clear, cogent and convincing 
evidence. Pioneer Nat’l Title Ins. Co. v. State, 39 Wn. 
App. 758, 760-61, 695 P.2d 996 (1985) (equitable 
estoppel asserted against government) . . . . 

Kramarevcky v. Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs., 122 Wn.2d 738, 743-44, 

863 P.2d 535 (1993) (footnote omitted).  

 Williams Place contends that WSDOT has been equitably estopped 

based upon the following government admissions, statements, or acts:  1) 

a 1970 permit application by Northwest Paving Inc. which never resulted 

in an access permit because the applicant failed to obtain the necessary 

railroad crossing permits;24 2) an observation in a WSDOT appraisal 

regarding farm access without an explanation of the basis for the 

appraiser’s observation  concerning a portion the Williams Place property 

that was not the focus of the appraisal because it was unaffected by the 

acquisition that the appraisal concerned.  CP 139, 140.  3) internal 

WSDOT communication in which an employee described his opinion that 

Williams Place’s asserted access right did not exist; and 4) former 

WSDOT plans for a limited access highway which would have included a 

frontage road that Williams Place could have used had it been built.  None 

                                                 
24 Williams Place is attempting to support its equitable estoppel argument with a 

1970 highway access permit and bridge permit application that was not completed 
because the applicant, a business operating on the present Motley land, failed to obtain 
approval from the railroad to cross at the location central to the instant case.  This is a 
situation not dissimilar to Williams Place’s.  This permit application is at CP 371-84, 
127-37.  This permit was conditioned on the applicant obtaining railroad crossing 
permits.  Because the applicant was unable to satisfy this condition, the access and bridge 
permits became void.  CP 246-47. 
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of these government actions are inconsistent with WSDOT’s position that 

Williams Place did not have a right of access at milepost 6.9.   

 As to the second element of equitable estoppel, there is no 

evidence that Williams Place acted in reliance on any of these government 

actions.  Furthermore, any reliance on the frontage road plan was 

unreasonable, as the limited access plans include a warning in capital 

letters that “ALL PLANS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE . . . ” CP 260-61. 

 Additionally, Williams Place cannot establish clear and convincing 

evidence to support its equitable estoppel theory.  None of the four 

documents described above which Williams Place relies on to support its 

equitable estoppel argument were addressed to Williams Place or 

specifically concerned the issue presented here.  In the only written 

communication from WSDOT to Williams Place concerning the issue 

presented here, WSDOT specifically said that it did not believe that 

Williams Place had a right of access.  These letters were from WSDOT’s 

regional administrator and were addressed to Williams Place and its 

attorney.  CP 236-37, 240-41.  WSDOT’s position in this litigation is 

consistent with its position in these letters.  Thus, when the totality of the 

evidence concerning WSDOT’s actions prior to the removal of the 

temporary bridge is weighed, the letters directly to Williams Place from 

the highest-ranking WSDOT employee in the region far outweigh the 
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other alleged acts.  Thus, Williams Place has not satisfied its initial burden 

to produce evidence sufficient to meet the clear, cogent, and convincing 

evidence standard.  Finally, “[w]here both parties can determine the law 

and have knowledge of the underlying facts, estoppel cannot lie.”  Guillen 

v. Pierce Cnty., 127 Wn. App. 278, 290, 110 P.3d 1184 (2005) (quoting 

Lybbert v. Grant Cnty., 141 Wn.2d 29, 35, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000)). 

D. Williams Place’s Standing Issue Misunderstands WSDOT’s 
Role. 

  Williams Place complains that WSDOT lacks standing to assert 

claims belonging to the County and/or other third parties with respect to 

Williams Place’s lack of an easement to cross intervening property 

belonging to these third parties.  This argument fails to understand RCW 

47.50, the Washington Highway Access Management Act (HAMA), which 

establishes a framework for the governmental regulation of access points to 

state highways.  Galvis v. Dept. of Transp., 140 Wn. App. 693, 167 P.3d 584 

(2007).  Under HAMA, owners or occupiers of land abutting a state highway 

have a right of access to or from such highway only at such points and in 

such manner as may be determined by WSDOT.  RCW 47.50.020(1).  In 

performing its responsibilities under HAMA, WSDOT must evaluate 

whether owners of property are state highway abutters, or have legal 

easements, to the state highway.  Id.; WAC 468-51-030.  In short, Williams 
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Place’s “lack of standing” argument mistakes standing with WSDOT’s 

performance of its statutory duties. 

 In addition, as the plaintiff in an inverse condemnation case, 

Williams Place bears the burden of producing evidence that it owns the 

property right it claims WSDOT took – the right to access SR 270 at

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